IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC07-2266

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY
and NORMA J. PEELE,

Petitioners,

vs.

COLLEEN M. STEADMAN,

Respondent.

On Review From The Second District Court Of Appeal
Case No. 2D04-1428

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP

Steven L. Brannock

P.O. Box 1288

Tampa, Florida 33601

(813) 227-8500

Chris N. Kolos

Christopher Annunziato

P.O. Box 1526

Orlando, FL 32802-1526

(407) 244-1165

INTRODUCTION

Liberty Mutual Insurance Company and its claims handler, Norma J. Peele (collectively "Liberty") seek to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court to resolve the conflict between the decision below and this Court's decision in *Aguilera v. Inservices, Inc.*, 905 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 2005). The issue is what a plaintiff must allege to overcome the Workers Compensation Immunity conferred by Chapter 440, Florida Statutes (2002). In *Aguilera*, this Court reiterated that mere allegations that the carrier had intentionally delayed payment did not state a tort independent of the claims handling process, even if the complaint characterized the delay as outrageous, intentional, and in bad faith.

Thus, under *Aguilera* it is not enough for the plaintiff in this case, Colleen Steadman, to allege that Liberty intentionally, outrageously, and in bad faith delayed her lung transplant for nine months despite knowing that the treatment was necessary and appropriate. *Aguilera*, 905 So. 2d at 91. But according to the Second District's decision below, such a complaint can overcome the statutory immunity simply by adding allegations that Liberty's actions were outrageous because Liberty intended to injure Steadman (A. 5-6).¹

The problem with the Second District's decision is that these conclusory allegations of intent to harm can be asserted in any case concerning the denial or

¹ References to "A." refer to the appendix attached to this brief containing the Second District's decision below.

withholding of medical benefits. The defendant always knows that the plaintiff is in need of treatment, and the plaintiff always alleges, as Steadman alleges here, that the treatment was necessary to prevent harm. Thus, under the roadmap provided by the decision below, it is a simple matter in every case to circumvent the immunity by alleging that the denial of healthcare was intentionally designed to harm the plaintiff.

As discussed below, *Aguilera* does not permit the statutory immunity to be so easily circumvented, as the Third and Fourth Districts have recognized in cases interpreting *Aguilera*. Review should be granted to prevent the Second District's erroneous and conflicting interpretation from rendering meaningless the immunity conferred by statute and to resolve the conflict between the decision below and *Aguilera* and decisions of the Third and Fourth Districts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Second District's short statement of the facts reveals that Colleen Steadman filed suit against her employer's worker's compensation carrier, Liberty and its claims handler, Norma J. Peele, for intentional infliction of emotional distress (A. 2). Steadman sought authorization and reimbursement for a bilateral lung transplant through Liberty. The benefits she sought were either denied or discontinued based on Liberty's determination that some of Steadman's requests

related to a preexisting medical condition (A. 2). *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Steadman*, 895 So. 2d 434, 435 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (*Steadman I*).

After the denial of benefits, Steadman filed a petition for benefits with a judge of compensation claims ("JCC") pursuant to Chapter 440, Florida Statutes. The JCC approved denial of some benefits but also ordered Liberty to pay for the surgery and some other items associated with the operation. *Steadman I*, 895 So. 2d at 435. Steadman alleges that Liberty failed to comply with the JCC's order promptly because she did not receive her operation for nine months. *Id.* (A. 2, 5).

Following surgery, Steadman sued Liberty in Hillsborough County Circuit Court for intentional infliction of emotional distress for their alleged delay in authorizing the lung surgery and for denying other medical expenses. *Steadman I*, 895 So. 2d at 435. Liberty moved to dismiss the case with prejudice, arguing that Steadman's sole avenue of relief was through Chapter 440, Florida Statutes (the "Worker's Compensation Act"). Section 440.11 provides that "the liability of a [worker's compensation] carrier to an employee, or to anyone entitled to bring suit in the name of the employee shall be provided in this chapter, *which shall be exclusive and in place of all other liability.*" *Id.* (emphasis added). Liberty argued that, because Steadman's intentional distress claim arose solely from defendant's delay in the payment of benefits, Steadman's only avenue of relief was through the Workers Compensation Act. *Steadman I*, 895 So. 2d at 435.

The trial court held that Liberty was not entitled to statutory immunity under §440.11 as a matter of law. The Second District reversed. *Steadman I*, 895 So. 2d at 435. According to the Court, Steadman's lawsuit did not overcome the immunity conferred by the statute because it was based "entirely on Liberty Mutual's delay in payment of benefits by Liberty." *Id.* at 436.

Steadman then sought review by this Court. At the time, this Court had already granted review of the Third District's decision in *Inservices v. Aguilera*, 837 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002), *review granted*, 847 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 2003). In *Aguilera*, on a set of particularly egregious allegations that included claims of fraud and other affirmative misconduct by the insurance carrier, the Third District had held that no cause of action could be based on conduct that arises during the claims process, even if the facts supported an independent tort.

This Court reversed the Third District. Although reiterating that claims of mere delay were not enough, even if couched as being in bad faith, this Court determined that a carrier could be liable for misconduct occurring during the claims process so long as the plaintiff alleged a separate and independent tort such as the intentional infliction of emotional distress. 905 So. 2d at 94-95.

Because the Second District's opinion in *Steadman I* had cited the Third DCA's *Aguilera* decision, this Court remanded the case to permit the Second District to reconsider its decision in light of *Aguilera*. On remand, the Second

District reversed itself and determined that Steadman had, in fact, pleaded an independent tort. The Court held that Steadman's allegations that Liberty's delay of treatment was intentional and designed to injure Steadman was enough under *Aguilera* to avoid the immunity conferred by the Worker's Compensation Act. The Court then denied Liberty's motion to certify a question of great public importance and Liberty's petition for review followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision below conflicts with *Aguilera* and decisions of the Third and Fourth Districts holding or demonstrating that more than allegations of bad faith or intentional delay are necessary to circumvent the immunity afforded by the Act. This Court's *Aguilera* decision makes clear that allegations of delay or denial of benefits, however characterized, are not sufficient to overcome the immunity. *Aguilera* holds that plaintiff must allege affirmative acts of misconduct that demonstrate a separate and independent tort.

By contrast, the decision below permits a claim that, by its own admission, is formed solely on the carrier's alleged delay in approving treatment. To permit this delay claim to go forward merely because plaintiff has characterized Liberty's actions as outrageous and intentional, is a misapplication of *Aguilera*. Review must be granted to resolve the conflict created by *Steadman*. Otherwise, the roadmap provided by *Steadman* will render the statutory immunity meaningless.

ARGUMENT SUPPORTING THE EXERCISE OF JURISDICTION

The Second District's decision below misinterprets *Aguilera* in such a way that eviscerates the immunity conferred by the Act. The court acknowledged in *Steadman I* that plaintiff's case "is based entirely on Liberty Mutual's delay in paying the benefits awarded [to Steadman]." 895 So. 2d at 436. Yet this Court in *Aguilera* reiterated that mere delay in the processing of claims is not an actionable tort falling outside of the immunity provided by the Workers' Compensation Act, no matter how the plaintiff characterizes the delay. Indeed, in stating this proposition, this Court favorably cited a decision holding that an employee cannot avoid immunity and "transform a mere delay in payments into an actionable tort simply by calling that delay outrageous, fraudulent, deceitful, or an intentional infliction of emotional distress." *Aguilera*, 905 So. 2d at 91, citing, *Sheraton Key Largo v. Roca*, 710 So.2d 1016, 1017 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

The decision below directly conflicts with *Aguilera* by permitting Steadman to maintain an intentional infliction claim that is based entirely on what the court below characterizes as Liberty's outrageous delay. According to the Second District, all Steadman need do to circumvent the immunity is allege that Liberty intended to harm Steadman by its delay. Thus, on remand the court held that the complaint stated a cause of action because Steadman alleged that Liberty knew that

Steadman needed treatment and intentionally withheld that treatment to intentionally injure her and hasten her demise.

The obvious problem with this decision, however, is that every workers' compensation delay case can easily be transformed into an outrageous delay claim. In every case regarding the provision of medical care, the patient's health, and often life, is at stake. No doubt a plaintiff faced with the rejection of a particular treatment may subjectively feel that the carrier has acted arbitrarily and outrageously. Perhaps we would all feel the same way in that same position. The point is, when every decision by the carrier has implications of life and death, any plaintiffs' lawyer worth his or her salt can turn the delay claim into an intentional infliction claim that will survive a motion to dismiss under the Second District's interpretation of *Aguilera*. Simply put, every delay claim in the context of medical treatment can readily be dressed up to survive a motion to dismiss.

Aguilera does not hold that immunity can be so easily overcome. Reiterating that mere delay claims are not enough, *Aguilera* stands for the unremarkable proposition that a defendant carrier is not automatically entitled to immunity for everything the carrier does during the claims process. If, as in *Aguilera*, there are allegations that the carrier committed affirmative acts of misconduct, these affirmative acts can form the basis of a claim. For example, in *Aguilera*, the carrier not only delayed the claim on outrageous and compelling

facts, but affirmatively acted to block patient care, attempted to convince the patient to lie to his counsel, and compelled the patient to undergo painful tests that the carrier knew were contraindicated and unnecessary. Simply put, affirmative misconduct that amounted to far more than delay was presented by Aguilera's complaint.

Following *Aguilera*, the Second District stands alone in permitting a claim based solely on delay to state a cause of action. By contrast, the Third District has dismissed claims based on plaintiff's allegations that the carrier in bad faith failed to respond or respond adequately to his claims for treatment. *Ingraham v. Travelers Indemnity Co.*, 925 So. 2d 377, 378 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006). See also *Grace v. Royal Indemnity Co.*, 949 So. 2d 1074, 1077 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) (Ramirez, J., dissenting) (dismissing claims despite allegations that the carrier withheld treatment for a full nine months "with full knowledge of the necessity for the treatment.").

Other than *Steadman*, those claims that have survived a motion to dismiss have been predicated on acts that rose beyond the level of mere delay. *Thristino v. Crawford & Co.*, 932 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) (permitting claim to go forward because the complaint contained "specific and detailed allegations of intentional treatment or neglect" and "detailed allegations of intentional mistreatment"); *Protegrity Services, Inc., v. Vaccaro*, 909 So. 2d 445 (Fla. 4th DCA

2005) (plaintiff stated a cause of action based on carrier's wrongful threats made to the doctor).

It is critically important that the question of the proper application of *Aguilera* to a mere delay claim be resolved. The immunity afforded by the statute becomes meaningless if it is too easy to allege around it. Nor is it an adequate answer to suggest that baseless allegations of intentional harm can be sorted out later in the case at summary judgment or at trial. Indeed, Liberty is confident that it will disprove plaintiff's exaggerated and strident claims when given the opportunity, but that proof will come at great expense. Immunity is small comfort when the plaintiff is able to take the case deep into discovery and beyond, simply by adding a few choice adjectives to the complaint. As this Court has already observed in *Aguilera*, and as the Third and Fourth Districts have found in cases like *Ingraham* or *Protegrity*, more must be required before the plaintiff is allowed to circumvent the immunity accorded by the Act.

This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict presented by the Steadman decision below and to make clear that some sort of affirmative misconduct beyond the mere denial or delay of medical benefits must be alleged to overcome the statutory immunity.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant the petition for discretionary review and review the conflict presented by the decision below.