**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**  
**Case No. SC07-2266**

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY  
and NORMA J. PEELE,

Petitioners,

vs.

COLLEEN M. STEADMAN,

Respondent.

---

On Review from the Second District Court of Appeal  
Case No. 2D04-1428

---

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION**

RICCI ~ LEOPOLD, P.A.  
Theodore J. Leopold  
Florida Bar No. 705608  
Diana L. Martin  
Florida Bar No. 624489  
2925 PGA Blvd., Ste. 200  
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410  
(561) 684-6500

**

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Second District Court's decision in *Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Steadman*, 968 So. 2d 592 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007), is an accurate application of the law developed by this Court in *Aguilera v. Inservices, Inc.*, 905 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 2005). Because *Steadman* does not expressly and directly conflict with *Aguilera* or decisions out of the district courts, the Court should deny Petitioners' request for the Court to exercise jurisdiction in this case.

## **ARGUMENT OPPOSING THE EXERCISE OF JURISDICTION**

Petitioners seek discretionary review of the Second District Court's decision in *Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Steadman*, 968 So. 2d 592 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007), on the ground that it expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's opinion in *Aguilera v. Inservices, Inc.*, 905 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 2005), as well as decisions of the Third and Fourth District Courts. *See* Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). As the *Steadman* decision is actually an application of the law developed in *Aguilera* and completely consistent with that opinion, the Court should deny Petitioners' request for the Court to exercise jurisdiction in this case.

Upon remand from this Court, the Second District Court found that the conduct alleged in Plaintiff-Respondent Steadman's complaint is so outrageous in character that it states a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress and, therefore, affirmed the trial court's denial of Defendants-Petitioners'

motion to dismiss the complaint. The heart of the Second District Court's opinion is as follows:

Steadman's complaint lists an assortment of acts she contends were "intentional and outrageous," but the primary focus of her complaint is that Liberty Mutual and Peele delayed authorizing a double lung transplant even after the JCC had ordered Liberty Mutual to pay for it. Steadman alleges that Peele and Liberty Mutual's actions were "predicated on the fact that [Steadman] would die from her condition in a short time and the problem would go away" and that Peele and Liberty Mutual knew based on physician testimony that Steadman was not expected to survive until the following year. Steadman contends that based on that knowledge, Liberty Mutual intentionally denied and delayed payment for treatment in an effort to speed up her demise, to induce stress that it knew would be detrimental to her health, and to inflict emotional distress. Steadman alleges she suffered severe emotional distress and that the distress caused her physical condition to deteriorate.

The real issue in this case is not whether Steadman's complaint contains all the elements of a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress-it does-but whether the "pleaded facts ... ascend, or perhaps descend, to a level permitting us to say that the benchmarks enunciated in *Metropolitan [Life Insurance Co. v. McCarson]*, 467 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 1985),] have been met." *Ponton [v. Scarfone]*, 468 So. 2d [1009, 1011 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985)]. In making that evaluation, we find comment "f" to section 46 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts instructive because it explains how knowledge of a person's particular susceptibility to emotional distress is relevant to determining whether the conduct is sufficiently extreme and outrageous to constitute intentional infliction of emotional distress:

f. The extreme and outrageous character of the conduct may arise from the actor's knowledge that the other is peculiarly susceptible to emotional distress, by reason of some physical or mental condition or peculiarity. The conduct may become heartless, flagrant, and outrageous when the actor proceeds in the face of such knowledge, where it would not be so if he did not know. It must be emphasized again, however, that major outrage is essential to the tort; and the

mere fact that the actor knows that the other will regard the conduct as insulting, or will have his feelings hurt, is not enough.

Viewed in isolation, the conduct Steadman has alleged with respect to the lung transplant is not so outrageous that it qualifies as “‘atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community.’” *See Metropolitan*, 467 So. 2d at 279 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 46 cmt. d). However, paired with her specific allegation that Liberty Mutual and Peele knew, based on testimony from Steadman's physicians, that she had a very limited life expectancy, and further considering that Steadman was well aware that the clock was ticking and that the additional emotional distress caused by the delay could well hasten her demise, we conclude that the conduct falls within the ambit of comment “f” of section 46. Further, comment “e” explains that the unequal position of the parties in a relationship, where one asserts and has the power to affect the interests of the other, may also supply the heightened degree of outrageousness required for a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress. *See* Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 46 cmt. e. Liberty Mutual was in such a position in relation to Steadman. Finally, accepting the allegations in the complaint as true, Liberty Mutual's delay was wholly unjustified because the issue of Steadman's entitlement to the lung transplant had been litigated, and the JCC had ordered Liberty Mutual to authorize the transplant. *See [Dependable Life Ins. Co. v.] Harris*, 510 So. 2d [985, 989 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987)] (holding that the insured sufficiently alleged a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress where the insurer rejected the insured's claim for disability payments without any justification and where coverage had been previously determined to exist). *Compare Metropolitan*, 467 So. 2d at 279 (holding that the insured failed to allege a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress where the insurer asserted its “legal rights in a legally permissible way” by withholding benefits until the insured provided certain information in accordance with the policy).

Accordingly, we conclude that the conduct alleged in Steadman's complaint is “‘so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency’” and thus meets the standard adopted in *Metropolitan*, 467 So. 2d at 278-79 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 46 cmt. d). We affirm the trial

court's denial of Liberty Mutual and Peele's motion to dismiss Steadman's complaint, and we remand for further proceedings.

*Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Steadman*, 968 So. 2d 592, 595-96 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007).

This decision is completely in line with this Court's opinion in *Aguilera v. Inservices, Inc.*, 905 So. 2d 84, 93 (Fla. 2005), which "reaffirm[ed] that the workers' compensation legislation does immunize an insurance carrier for mere negligent conduct, simple bad faith, and minor delays in payment, but does not afford blanket immunity for all conduct during the claim process, particularly the insurance carrier's intentional tortious conduct. . . ." According to Petitioners, however, this Court held in *Aguilera* that "mere allegations that the carrier had intentionally delayed payment [do] not state a tort independent of the claims handling process, even if the complaint characterize[s] the delay as outrageous, intentional, and in bad faith." (Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction, p. 1). Petitioners ask the Court to accept review in this case so that it may make clear that *Aguilera* requires that "some sort of affirmative misconduct beyond the mere denial or delay of medical benefits must be alleged to overcome the statutory immunity." (Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction, p. 9).

Contrary to Petitioners' assertions, a close reading of *Aguilera* demonstrates that while a *mere* or *minor* delay in payment or claims handling does not rise to the level of an independent tort falling outside of the immunity provided by the workers' compensation statute, *see* 905 So. 2d at 91 ("[m]inor delays in payments,

and conduct amounting to simple bad faith in claim handling procedures”); *id.* (“mere delay of payments or simple bad faith”); *id.* at 92 (“employees are not permitted to simply transform a simple delay in payments into an actionable tort”); *id.* at 93 (“simple bad faith, and minor delays in payment”), behavior, including delays that are more than minor, that amounts to conduct that actually exacerbates the situation of the insured by causing injury in addition to that incurred at the workplace does fall outside the statutory immunity. *See id.* at 97; *see also id.* at 93-94 (“[I]f an insurance carrier engages in outrageous actions and conduct that constitutes an intentional tortious act while processing the claim beyond mere short delays in payment and simple bad faith, the carrier is not cloaked with a shield of immunity flowing from the workers’ compensation provisions.”); *id.* at 92 (“complaint specifically alleges harm caused subsequent to and distinct from the original workplace injury”); *id.* at 97 (“the allegations reflect individuals using the power of the insurance carrier and its position of authority to affirmatively inflict damage upon [Plaintiff] separate from and in addition to the initial workplace injury”).

As found by the Second District, the facts alleged by Respondent Steadman go far beyond the *mere* delay of medical benefits or *minor* delay in the claims process. Mrs. Steadman alleged that Petitioners failed to authorize that she receive a double lung transplant until nine months after it was court-ordered to provide the

surgery, *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Steadman*, 895 So. 2d 434, 435 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005), and that Petitioners, who “knew based on physician testimony that Steadman was not expected to survive until the following year,” acted with the intention that Mrs. Steadman’s health would deteriorate during this period and that she would die, eliminating the need for the expensive surgery. *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Steadman*, 968 So. 2d 592, 595 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007) (emphasis added).

The Second District determined that this calculated delay, combined with Mrs. Steadman’s fragile emotional and physical condition, of which Petitioners were intimately aware, and the unequal position of the parties were enough to make the Petitioners’ alleged conduct “so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency.” *Id.* at 596. Clearly, this is not a case of mere delay in the claims process as Petitioners have tried to paint it. The Second District recognized as much when it denied Petitioners’ motion to certify a question of great public importance, which Petitioners’ based on this same “mere delay” argument. Petitioners’ actions in failing to authorize the medically-necessary lung transplant for nearly a year after being court-ordered to do so, when it knew that Mrs. Steadman’s life depended on the surgery, caused Mrs. Steadman injuries subsequent to and distinct from the workplace injuries she sustained and amounted to much more than a short delay in payment or simple bad faith—Petitioners’ alleged conduct constitutes the tort of intentional infliction of

emotional distress. In fact, this conduct is very similar to what this Court found to be intentional misconduct in *Aguilera*:

Aguilera specifically alleged in his amended complaint that the insurance carrier “did everything in [its] power to block medical treatment that it had actual notice [Aguilera] needed, and by doing so recklessly endangered [Aguilera's] life, and *engaged in a pattern of action substantially certain to bring about his death. . . .*” Aguilera's allegations clearly do not involve a mere delay in payments or simple bad faith, but, at a minimum, allege intentional misconduct that was substantially certain to harm Aguilera. The conduct alleged by Aguilera is, most certainly, sufficient to establish an independent tort.

*Aguilera*, 905 So. 2d at 96.

Petitioners contend that if the Second District's decision in *Steadman* is allowed to stand, then it will be “a simple matter in every case to circumvent . . . immunity by alleging that the denial of healthcare was intentionally designed to harm the plaintiff” thereby “rendering meaningless the immunity conferred by statute.” (Petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction, p. 2). Not only does Petitioners' contention minimize the allegations made in Mrs. Steadman's complaint, which, as demonstrated above, clearly rise to the level of an intentional tort, it minimizes the ability of Florida courts to intelligently review such allegations. This Court rejected a similar argument in *Aguilera* when it stated that it is “confident that Florida courts have been and will continue to be able to analyze an employee's allegations and ascertain whether the allegations amount to a mere delay in

payments, simple bad faith, or truly rise to the level of a separate and independent intentional tort.” 905 So. 2d at 92.

The ability of Florida courts to aptly conduct this analysis is demonstrated by the district court opinions cited by Petitioners, none of which are in express and direct conflict with *Steadman*. For instance, in *Ingraham v. Travelers Indemnity Co.*, 925 So. 2d 377, 378 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006), the plaintiff was suffering from laryngitis, which he claimed to have contracted as a result of his job-related duty to respond to customer telephone inquiries. He filed an action for bad faith, in which he failed to make any allegations of outrageous conduct on behalf of the insurer, much less claim that he suffered an injury separate and apart from the original workplace injury as a result of the insurer’s conduct. *See id.* at 378-79. Clearly, the facts alleged in *Ingraham* do not rise to the level of the allegations made by the Respondent here to support her claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, the viability of which “is highly fact-dependent and turns on the sum of the allegations in the specific case at bar.” *Johnson v. Thigpen*, 788 So. 2d 410, 413 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) (citing *Watson v. Bally Mfg. Corp.*, 844 F. Supp. 1533, 1537 (S.D. Fla. 1993)).

In *Protegrity Services, Inc. v. Vaccaro*, 909 So. 2d 445, 447-48 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005), on the other hand, the court found the plaintiff “claim[ed] that the insurance carrier intentionally injured her in the process of administering benefits

[and] specifically allege[d] harm caused subsequent to and distinct from the original workplace injury.” While the plaintiff’s allegations did include some acts of misconduct by the insurer that went beyond the denial or delay of medical benefits, the court did not ignore plaintiff’s allegations regarding delay and denial or state that such allegations in and of themselves would have been insufficient to take the insurer’s conduct outside the statutory immunity. *See id.* at 446-47. The court in that case did what every court must do in this type of case—examine the facts as alleged in the complaint and determine whether the sum of the allegations, taken as true and viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, are sufficient to state an action for a separate and independent intentional tort *See id.* at 448; *Aguilera*, 905 So. 2d at 92. And this is exactly what the Second District did in *Steadman*.

In asking the Court to exercise discretionary review in this case, Petitioners are seeking a ruling that no matter how long or egregious the delay in the provision of medical benefits or in the claims process, and no matter the effect of the delay, that such delay will never amount to an independent action that falls outside the statutory workers’ compensation immunity. This is not the law enunciated by this Court in *Aguilera* or any other court in Florida. In fact, this view was essentially rejected by this Court in *Aguilera* when it stated, “we reject the notion and premise of the Third District . . . that an independent tort in this context can never exist

within the claims administration process and that for an independent claim to have validity, it must be an act totally separate and apart from the process itself.” *Aguilera*, 905 So. 2d at 93.

As Petitioners have failed to demonstrate that the Second District’s *Steadman* decision is in express and direct conflict with this Court’s opinion in *Aguilera v. Inservices, Inc.*, 905 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 2005), or the decisions Petitioners cite out of the Third and Fourth District Courts, this Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction in this case.

### **CONCLUSION**

Petitioners have failed to demonstrate that the Second District’s decision in *Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Steadman*, 968 So. 2d 592, 595 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007), is in express and direct conflict with this Court’s opinion in *Aguilera v. Inservices, Inc.*, 905 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 2005), or the decisions Petitioners cite out of the Third and Fourth District Courts. This Court should, therefore, decline to exercise jurisdiction in this case.